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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report together with the audited financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022, which disclose the state of affairs of BRAC Rwanda IMicrofinance Company
PLC ("the Company").

1. INCORPORATION

BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company PLC is domiciled in Rwanda where it is incorporated as a company
limited by shares under the law n" O0712021 of 0510212021 governing companies in Rwanda. The address of
the registered office is set out on page 1.

2. PRINCIPALACTIVITIES

BRAC Rwanda IVlicrofinance Company PLC was registered in September 2018 and its principal activity is to
provide a range of financial services responsibly to people at the bottom of the pyramid.

3. RESULTS

2022
Frw

(2,552,706,256)

2021
Frw

(1,604,240,263)Loss before income tax

lncome tax expense

Loss after income tax

Other com prehensive income

Total comprehensive loss

(2,ss2,706,256) (1,604,240,263)

(2,552,706,2s6) (1,604,240,263)

4. DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend payment of dividends for the year ended 31 December 2022 (31
December 2021: Nil).

5. RESERVES

The reserves of the Company are set out on page 1 1.

6. DIRECTORS

The Directors who served during the year and to the date of this report are as shown on page '1 
.

7. AUDITOR

The auditors, PricewatehouseCoopers Rwanda Limited have expressed willingness to continue in office
as per the law n' No. 007/2021 of 0510212021 governing companies in Rwanda.

The Directors have the power to amend and re issue these financial statements

By order of the Board
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Approval ol the tinancial det€ments

The financial statements of BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company PLC, as identified in the first
paragraph, were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 April 2023 and
were signed on its behalf by.
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF BRAC RWANDA
MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Ouropinion

ln our opinion, BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc (the "Company") financial statements give a trueand
fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2022, and of its financial performance
and its cash flows for the year then ended in abcordance with lnternational FinancialReporting Standards and
the requirements of Law No. 00712021 of 0510212021 Governing Companies.

What we have audited

The Company's financial statements as set out in pages 9 to 59 comprise:
. the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022;
. the statements of comprehensive income;
. the statement of changes in equlty for the year then ended;
r the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
. the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting

policies.

Basr.s for opinian
We conducted our audit in accordance with lnternational Standards on Auditing (lSAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the auditof the financial
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the lnternational Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including lnternational lndependence Standards) issued by the lnternational Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the IESBA code.

Key audit malters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professionaljudgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the financial statements of the current period. The matter below was addressed in the context of our audit of
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not providea separate
opinion on the matter.
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF BRAC RWANDA
MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLG

aadit rnatlers

Loans and advances to customers comprise a significant
portion of the Company's total assets. The estimation of
expected credit losses (ECL) on loans and advances
requires management judgment in the assumptions that
are applied in the models used to calculate ECL.

Changes to the assumptions and estimates used by

management could generate significant fluctuations in

the Company financial results and materially impact the

valuation of the portfolio of loans and advances.

The policies for estimating ECL are explained in note 5 of
the fi nancial statements.

The key areas where significant judgement has been

exercised and therefore, an increased level of audit
focus applied, include:

. the judgments made to determine the
categorisation (staging) of individual loan and
advances accounts in line with IFRS 9. ln
particular, the identification of Significant
lncrease in Credit Risk ("SlCR") and Default
requires consideration of quantitative and
qualitative criteria. This is a key area of
judgement as this determines whether a 12-
month or lifetime PD is used;

. the assumptions applied in deriving the
probabilities of default (PDs), loss given default
(LGD) and exposures at default (EAD) for the
various segments of loans and advances and

. the appropriateness of forward-looking
information used in the model;

. the conceptual logic, soundness and accuracy of
the expected credit losses models used by the
Company

. the relevance of fonryard-looking information
used in the models; and

. Due to the significant impact of management
judgments applied in calculating the ECL, we
designated this as a key audit matter in our audit.

Our audit procedures focused on the

significant areas of judgement and

estimations that could result in material

misstatements in the financial statements.
These procedures included :

We evaluated the Company
methodology for determining ECL and
evaluated this against the
requirements of IFRS 9;
We tested the staging of facilities by
checking how the company extracts
'days past due (DPD)' applied in
classifying the loan book into the
three stages required by IFRS 9. For
a sample of loans, we recalculated
the DPD applied in the model and
compared these to the DPD as per
the Bank's lT system and the
respective customer fi les;
Obtained an understanding of the
basis used to determine the
probabilities of default (PDs), loss
given default (LGD) and exposures at
default (EAD);
For LGD, we tested the assumptions
on the timing of the cash flows based
on empirical evidence. ln addition, for
secured facilities, we agreed the
collateral values used in the ECL
model to mandatory savings;
We tested the completeness and
accuracy of the historical data used in
derivation of PDs, LGDs and EADs,
and re-calculated the outcomes on a
sample basis.
We tested, on a sample basis, the
reasonableness of EAD for balance
sheet exposures;
For fonvard-looking assumptions used
in the ECL calculations, we
corroborated the assumptions using
publicly available information;
We assessed whether the disclosures
in the financial statements on the key
judgements and assumptions were
adequate.
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF BRAC RWANDA
MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

Ather informatian

Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Corporate
lnformation, report of the directors, Statement of directors' responsibilities, which we obtained prior to the
date of this auditor's report, and the other information that will be included in the annual report which is
expected to bemade available to us after that date, but does not include the financial statements and our
auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

ln connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. lf, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the other information that will be included in the annual report, if we conclude that there is
material misstatement there in, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors.

of the directars far the financial stafernen{s

Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with lnternational Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of Law No.007t2021
of 0510212021 Governing Companies, and for such internal control as directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

ln preparing the financial statements, directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and uslng the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or
tocease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.

Auditofs rcsponsi0ilifies far the audit of the frnanciat sfafernenfs

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with lSAs will always,detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate,they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with lSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

erl t{l2dt2C
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF BRAC RWANDA

MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

a

Auditor's responsibiliffes for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

o

a

a

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's, ability to continue as a going

concern. lf we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company
to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deflciencies in internal control that we identify

during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public

disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE SHAREHOLDER OF BRAC RWANDA

MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
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Law No. OO7l2O21 ot 0510212021 Governing Companies requires that in carrying out our audit we consider

and report to you on the following matters. We confirm that:

We We have no relationship, interest or debt with the Company. As indicated in our report on the financial

statements, we have complied with the required ethical requirements. These are the lnternational Ethics

Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) which

includes comprehensive independence and other requirements;

ln We have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief

were necessary for the purposes of our audit;

ln our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Company, so far as appears from our

examination of those books; and

We have communicated to the Company's Board of Directors, through a separate management letter,

internal control matters identified in the course of our audit including our recommendations in relation to

those matters.

According to the best of the information and the explanations given to us as auditors, as shown by the

accounting and other documents of the Company, the annual accounts comply with Article 125 of Law No'

00712021 of 0510212021 Governing Companies.

For PricewaterhouseCoopers Rwanda Limited, Kigali'

&{.. eprlzozz

Director
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

L

t_

L

t_

1t-

Notes

19

20

25

34

839,117,835

41,206,500

52,076,667

277,633

773,859,314

614,364,485

34,137,000

42,278,188

303,450

220,079,730

2021

Frw

678,507,797
(64,143,312)

lnterest income on loans

lnterest & otherfinancial expenses

Net interest income

Membershlp and other fees

Net foreign exchange (loss)/income

Other income

Grant income

Total operating income

Expected credit losses

Operating income after imPairment
losses

Employee benefits

Other operating expenses

Depreciation & amortization

Total operating cost

Loss before income tax

lncome tax expense

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income

21

23

22

24

867,420,114 296,798,368

1,706,537,949 911,162,853

(1 80,094,713) (60, 567,1 1 0)

1,526,M3,236 850,595,743

26

27

28

(1,797,s92,804)

(1,964,490,036)

(1,214,926,199)
(1,041,245,274)

Total comprehensive income

The notes on pages 13 to 59 are an integral part of these financial statements.

(3 17,066,652) (198,664 ,533)

(4,079,149,4921 (2,454,836,006)

(2,552,706,2561 (1,604,240,2631

(2,552,706,2561 (1,604,240,2631

(2,552,706,2561 (1,604,240,2631

t\ tv1 t'
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6
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2022

Frw

1,271,234,630
(432,116,795)
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2022

i

Note

7

B

31(a)

12

31(b)

2022

Frw
2021

Frw
Cash flow from operating activities
Cash generated from operations

Net cash used in activities

Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisition of property & equipment
Acquisition of intangible asset
ROU (right of use) asset

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities
Term loan receipt
Proceeds from Share capital
Lease Liability

Other capital contri bution/ receipU(payment)

Net cash from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash
equivalents held

(2,723,792,615) (1,919,217,171)

(2,723,792,615) (1,919,217,171)

29

(335,e26,172)

(194,263,423)

(57,384,393)

(72,671,348)

(10,192,002)

(4e5,00e,013)

(587,573,999) (577,872,3631

3,449,341,774

1 ,4'12,080,000
(59,777,806)

1,306,450,000

414,736,684

1,880,860,000

329,522,525
(468,784,637)

6,108,093,969 2,156,334,572

2,796,727,365 (340,754,962)

803,214,280 1,143,969,242

803,214,290Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 11 3,599,941,645

*The adjustments to property and equipment relate to write offs done during the year for old and
unusableassets

The notes on pages 13 to 59 are an integral part of these financial statements
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022(CONTINUED)

1 Reporting Entity

BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company PLC was registered in September 2018 and its principal
activity is to provide a range of financial services responsibly to people at the bottom of the
pyramid.

2 Basis of Preparation

a) Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with lnternational Financial Reporting
Standards ('IFRS'). The measurement basis applied is the historical cost basis, except for fair
value through other comprehensive income investments and loan note at fair value through profit
or loss whichhave been measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. lt also requires the directors to exercise judgement in the process of
applying the Company accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are
disclosed in Note 4

b) Comparative information

The comparative information used in this report are audited financial statements of BRAC Rwanda
Microfinance Company PLC for the financial year ended 31 December 2022.

3 Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs and in the manner required by
Law No007/2021 of 0510212021governing companies in Rwanda.

4 Significant accounting policies

(a) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

i) New and amended standards effective 1 January 2022

The key new and amended standards and interpretations that have become effective as at the time of
incorporation and for the period preceded has had an effect on the Company's financial statement

L

L

L

L

Number Effective date Executive summary
Annual
improvements
cycle 2018 -
2020

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January
2022

(Published May
2020)

These amendments include minor changes to:

IFRS 1, 'First time adoption of IFRS' has been
amended for a subsidiary that becomes a first-time
adopter after its parent. The subsidiary may elect to
measure cumulative translation differences for foreign
operations using the amounts reported by the parent at
the date of the parent's transition to IFRS.

IFRS 9, 'Financial lnstruments' has been amended to
include only those costs or fees paid between the
borrower and the lender in the calculation of "the 10%

a

to
nition of a financial I iability. Fees paid

calculation.



BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2o22(CONTINUED)
IL

L
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4 Significantaccountingpolicies(continued)

(a) Ghanges in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

i) New and amended standards effective 1 January 2022 (continued)

Executive summaryEffective dateNumber
IFRS'16,'Leases', amendment to the lllustrative
Example 13 that accompanies IFRS 16 to remove the
illustration of payments from the lessor relating to
leasehold improvements. The amendment intends to
remove any potential confusion about the treatment of
lease incentives.

IAS 41, 'Agriculture' has been amended to align the
requirements for measuring fair value with those of IFRS
'13. The amendment removes the requirement for entities
to exclude cash flows for taxation when measuring fair
value.

a

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2022

(Published May
2020)

The amendment clarifies which costs an entity includes in

assessing whether a contract will be loss-making. This
assessment is made by considering unavoidable costs,
which are the lower of the net cost of exiting the contract
and the costs to fulfil the contract. The amendment
clarifies the meaning of 'costs to fulfil a contract'. Under
the amendment, costs to fulfil a contract include
incremental costs and the allocation of other costs that
relate directly to fulfilling the contract.

Amendments to IAS
37 Onerous
Contracts-Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

The amendment to IAS '16 prohibits an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of PPE any proceeds
received from selling items produced while the entity is
preparing the asset for its intended use (for example, the
proceeds from selling samples produced when testing a
machine to see if it is functioning properly). The proceeds
from selling such items, together with the costs of
producing them, are recognised in profit or loss.

Amendments to IAS
16 Propefi, Plant
and Equipment:
Proceeds before
lntended Use

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2022

(Published May
2020)

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2022

(Published May
2020)

Board has updated IFRS 3, 'Business combinations',
r to the 2018 Conceptual Framework for

rting, in order to determine what constitutes an asset
liability in a business combination

n addition, the Board added a new exception in IFRS 3

ities and contingent liabilities. The exception specifi
for some types of liabilities and contingent liabilities,

applying IFRS 3 should instead refer to IAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets',
FRIC 21,'Levies', rathei than the 2018

Board has also clarified that the acquirer should not
nise contingent assets, as defined in IAS 37, at the

ramework.

ition date

Amendment to IFRS 3,
Business combinations'

Asset or liability in a
business
combination clarity

j-::=--:---
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ion rne YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2o22(CONTTNUED)

4 Significantaccountingpolicies(continued)

(a) Ghanges in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

ii) New and amended standards issued but not yet effective

L

L.

Executive suEffective dateNumber nce contracts'NSura'l1 7RSIFissuedIASBe
nsuof accountinga new epochstarted

rersinsulowsalIF RS 4,rrecu standard,nttheereas
conandcleardefinesIF 1RS 7GAAPocaltheir

litythe comparabincreaseltwi signiflcantlYthat
RS 1Ftonsitiothe tranrSurents insFostateme
noandcialnan statementsfionanhave impact

nrticipatiowith direct pantractsconsuranceFor
Theliesappfeevariablethe approachresfeatu

neratheonnvariatio geaisafee pproachvariable
thefeeriableVAthe approachWhenmodel applying

the underlyofueval ngfair changestheshare ofentity
Asn aservicealcontractu margithetnincludedisitems
isedare notch recognvaluefair ngesthence,conseque

utboccurwhichinn theythelossor periodin profit
the contract.life ofre mainiover the

entitiesrresemod requenerathe1 7 gIF RSnder
atnitiontn itialat recogcontractinsu rancean

theco ngflows mprisicashntfulfilmetheof
valuemethe tito reflectan adcashre flows, ljustment

on-financialnforriskand na adjustmentexplicit
cashlfilmentThe fuma in.service rgcontractualeth

reeachbasis ngporti periodan currentoredremeasu
nservice margintractualcoearnedun profit

over the periodn coveragesed

d5rovidesstandardthe pmodel,mfro this general
allocation proach.apuml mthe preification,

ncertaifoicable typesa plpproachap
oneofcoveawith periodd those rageinclu ing

rmance indicators.

less.

orafter 1 January 2023

ly IFRS 9,'Financial
ments', and IFRS 15,

e from Contracts
Customers', at or
re the date of initial

pplication of IFRS 17

(Published MaY

2017)

periods beginning

islicationapp
thatentitiesforrmitted

IFRS 17,

'lnsurance
contracts'

mplementation alreadY underwaY'

raisedchaand lengesSthof concernesometoresponse
numbeantsme andamendBoard targeteddeveloped

ofto easendedinte implementationclarifications
andardthe standsim some1RS 7 requirementspl ify

reasd oftorements lateamend eightn Thetransitio
thechnten todednot ngeare7 and1FRS they

rsrudrd undor ptstand ulytheofndamental principles

ublished June 2020)

nnlngbegiperiods
20231 Januaryafteor

IFRS 17,

lnsurance
contracts
Amendments
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3{ DECEMBER 2022(C0NT|NUED)

4 Significantaccounting policies(continued)

(a) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

ii) New and amended standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

(b) lnterest income and lnterest expenses

lnterest income and expenses for all financial instruments except for those classified as held for trading
or those measured or designated as at FWPL are recognised in 'Net interest income' as 'lnterest
income' and 'lnterest expense' in the profit or loss account using the effective interest method.
Interest on financial instruments measured as at FWPL is included within the fair value movement
during the period. The effective interest rate(EtR) is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash flows of the financial instrument through the expected life of the financial instrument or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.

The future cash flows are estimated taking into account all the contractual terms of the instrument.
The calculation of the EIR includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the
contract that are incremental and directly attributable to the specific lending arrangement,
transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts. For financial assets at FWPL transaction costs
are recognised in profit or loss at initialrecognition. The interest income/ interest expense is calculated by
applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of non-credit impaired financial assets (i.e. at the
amortised cost of the financial asset before adjusting for anyexpected credit loss allowance), or to the
amortised cost of financial liabilities.

For credit-impaired financial assets the interest income is calculated by applying the EIR to the amortised
cost of the credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. the gross carrying amount less the allowance for
expected credit losses( EC Ls).

The Company earns fees and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its
customers. Fee income can be divided into the following two categories:

t-

Amendment to IAS 1,

'Presentation of Financial
Statements' on Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-
current

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2023

(Published
Jan 2020)

The amendment clarifies that Iiabilities are classified
as either current or non-current, depending on the
rights that exist at the end of the reporting period. A
number of requirements are required to be met in
conjunction with this amendment.

Narrow scope amendments to
IAS 1 'Presentation of
Financial Statements',
Practice statement 2 and IAS
B'Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors'

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2023. Earlier
application is
permitted.

(Published
Februarv 2021 )

The amendments aim to improve accounting policy
disclosures and to help users of the financial
statements to distinguish changes in accounting
policies from changes in accounting estimates.

?gr---
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022(CONTINUED)

4 Significantaccounting policies(continued)

(b) lnterest income and lnterest expenses (continued)

a Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period. Loan

commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down and other credit related fees are deferred
(together with any incremental costs) and recognized as an adjustment to the EIR on theloan. When it

is unlikely that a loan will be drawn down, the loan commitment fees are recognized over the

commitment period on a straight-line basis.

Fees income from providing transaction services. Fees arising from negotiating or participating in the
negotiation of a transaction for a third party, such as the arrangement of the acquisition of shares or
other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses, are recognized on completion of the underlying
transaction. Fees or components of fees that are linked to a certain performance are recognized after
fulfilling the corresponding criteria.

a

(c) Employee benefits and other operating expenses

Reti re m e nt be n ef it cosfs

The Company and all its employees contribute to the national social security scheme in Rwanda, which isa
defined contribution scheme. A defined contribution plan is a retirement benefit plan under which the
Company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Company has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. The Company's contributions to the
defined contribution schemes are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the year in which
they fall due.

Other entitlements

The estimated monetary liability for employees accrued annual leave entitlement at the balance sheet
date isrecognized as an expense accrual.

(d) Other income

This includes miscellaneous income such as amounts charged for tenders and fees on account closing nol

classified as part of the main revenue items. Other income is recorded in the period it is earned

Financial assets are assets that are:
. Cash and cash equivalents
. Loans to customers
. Other assets other than prepayments and statutory receivables

Financial liabilities are all liabilities that are:
. Term loans
. Member savings
. Related party payables
. Other liabilities
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FoR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022(CONTTNUED)

4 Significantaccountingpolicies(continued)

(e) Financialinstruments(continued)

Recognition of a financial instrument

The company recognises a financial instrument (financial asset, financial liability or equity instrument)
when it becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. This includes granting a loan to a
customer. lt does not include transactions that we have planned but not commltted to. Here we have not
become party to a contract requiring the future receipt or delivery of financial assets

lnitial classification and measurement of financial assefs

On initial recognition, financial assets are classified into one of three measurement categories. This
drivesthe subsequent accounting:

. Amortised cost;

. Fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCl"); or

. Fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL').
Currently allfinancial assets are carried at amortized costs.

Key iudgemenfs consrdered when classifying financiat debt instruments (loans to customers, trade
andother receivables),

The business models

To be able to classify financial assets, the company needs to identify the objective of the business
modelin which the asset is held. This could be:

Held-to-collect - typically involving the lowest level of sales (in frequency and volume)
compared to other business models.
Both held to collect and for sale - typically involving more sales (in frequency and volume) than
the held-to-collect business model.
Other business models - if the collection of contractual cash flows is incidental to the objective of
the model.

The business model is determined at a level that reflects the way you manage groups of
financial assets together to achieve a particular business objective. lt does not depend on your
intentions for an individual instrument. The business model is typically observable through
particular activities that you undertake to achieve the objectives of the business model.

Testing the SPPI (Solely Payments of Principal and lnterest) criteria determining whether the asset's
contractual cash flows are solely principal and interest (the SPPlcriterion) will be a matter of significant
judgement. The company will consider:

contractual provisions that change contractual cash flows - e.g. variable
interest rates,prepayment features and term extension features;

a

a

a

a
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Financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Directly attributable transaction costs are treated
as follows:
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2o22(CONTINUED)

4 Significantaccountingpolicies(continued)

(e) Financial instruments(continued)

lnitial classification and measurement of financial assefs (continued)

The business models (continued)

De minimis or non-genuine features - features that will only have a de minimis effect on
cash flows, or that are unlikely to occur;
Non-recourse and limited recourse assets - contractual cash flows described as principal
and interest but that do not represent payment of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding; or

Contractually linked instruments - circumstances in which payment is prioritized to the holders of
multiple contractually linked instruments that create concentrations of credit risk.

Directly attributable transaction costs

Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of financial assets, except for those
measured at FWPL
Transaction costs include only those costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
origination of the financial asset. They are incremental costs that would not have been incurred if
the instrument had not been acquired, originated or issued. These include, for example, fees and
commission paid to agents, advisers, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and
securities exchanges, transfer taxes and duties, credit assessment fees and registration charges
and similar costs.

Subsequent measurement - Amortized cosf

Amortized cost is calculated using the effective interest rate (ElR) method. This allocates interest
income at a constant rate over the period to which it relates, regardless of when it is paid.

The following items are recognized in the income statement.
. lnterest income using the effective interest method
. Expected credit losses and reversals
. Foreign exchange gains and losses

When the financial asset is derecognized, any gain or loss is recognized in the income statement.

Effective interest rate

The effective interest rate is calculated on initial recognition of a financial asset. lt is the rate that
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected Iife of the financial instrument to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset. On initial recognition this will usually be equal to the
fair value of the instrument, adjusted for transaction costs.

The estimate of expected cash flows considers all contractual terms (e.g. prepayment, call and
similar options) but does not consider expected credit losses.
To calculate the interest charge for the relevant period, the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset at the previous reporting date.

I

ORIGINAL
0rn M

COPYTRUEIEDCERTIF
MENTDOCUTHEOF

lr:httrn(:

t_

t

L

L

L

L

L

L

L

i

L

L

L

It_

t
L

L

L
A-



4 Significantaccountingpolicies(continued)

(e) Financial instruments (continued)

lnitial classification and measLtrement of financial assefs (continued)

Most financial liabilities are classified in the amortized cost measurement category.
Financial liabilities may be classified as fair value through profit and loss t'rfrpL,l in some rarescenarios.

All financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Directly attributable transaction costs arededucted from the amount initially recognized" An exception exists for financial liabilities atFWPL' which are measured at fair value with transaction costs immediately recognized in theincome
statement.

Subsequent to initial measu rement:

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value with changes included in the incomestatement,except for changes in own-credit risk presented in ocl f6r liabilities oesignateo under thefair value option

other financial liabilitie.s are generally measured at amortised cost following the guidance in section.However,financial liabilities represent your contractual obligation to pay and so will never include a lossallowance.

Modification of financiat assefs and /ra bilities

lf a debt instrument is restructured or refinanced and the terms have been substantially modified,the transaction must be accounted for as an extinguishment of the old debt instrument, with a gainor loss recognised in the P&L. The new debt instrumEnt is recognised at fair value.

lmpairment of financiat assets

Most financial assets are subject to impairment testing under the expected loss model. lt is notnecessary for a loss event to occur before an impairmJnt loss is recognised. Any impairment lossallowance is recognised inthe income statement.

Expected credrtlosses

IFRS I Financial lnstruments requires the Company to recognise expected credit losses (,,ECL,,) onloans tocustomers which involves significant judgement ani estlmates.

The key areas where we iclentified greater levels of management judgement and therefore increasedlevels ofaudit focus in the company's imprementation of irRs g ire:

- Model estimations. - inherently judgemental modelling is used to estimate ECL which involvesdetermining probabilities of.defauli t"po'), toss given oltauit-g,r-cD,,), and urp*rr". at defautt("EAD')'The PD model used for loans and'aduanc6, is tne rey o'river of the Company,s ECL resultsand are thereforethe most significant judgemental aspect of tne ECL modelling approach.

BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3 1 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTI NUED)

Expected credit loss is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of afinancial asset using all reasonabre and supportabre information avairable about past events andcurrent conditions supplemented by forecasts of future economic cond itions. The macro-economicoverlay involves a point-in
on the credit losses.

of the impact of expected macro-economic developments



BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 pEcEMEER 2022 (CONTINUED)

4 Significantaccountingpolicies(continued)

(e) Financial instruments (continued)

Expe cted credff /osses (c o n t i n u e d )

Defaulted loans are labelled stage 3 exposures. The non-defaulted loans are either stage 1 or stage 2,
dependingon whether credit risk significantly increased since inception. Such deteiioration would
bring the loan fromstage 1, for which 12 Month ECL provision are required, to stage 2, for which
lifetime ECL needs to be calculated. The introduction of ECL provisioning results-in the need to
develop specific ECL methodologies and to adopt policies dealing with amongst others stage
transfers and the incorporation of macro-economicoverlays.

The standard includes various practical expedients that can be used in specific situations, and reliefs
adopters from using the general impairment requirements. Examples are investments with low
credit risk (e.9. investment grade securities), for which different stage transfer monitoring applies, and
a simplified approachfortrade receivables and lease receivables.
IFRS 9 allows for a simplified approach to be applied to trade receivables, contract assets and
lease receivables; the accounting policy choice can be made independenily for each asset type. Under
the simplifiedapproach, the loss allowance is always equalto the lifetime expected credit losses.
The company has elected to use the practical expedients when measuring ECLs under the simplified
approachby using a provision matrix for trade receivables. ln doing so, the c6mpany has:

' considered whether it is appropriate to segment trade receivables; and/or
' Use historical loss experience on its trade receivables and adjust historical loss rates

to reflectinformation about current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts of
future economic conditions.

The simplified approach has been elected as appropriate due to the fact that all loans to customers
have aloan term of 12 months and 6 months.

F orvva rd looki n g info rm atio n ( F Ll )

The company incorporates forward-looking information into both the assessment of whether the
credit risk of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and the
measurement of ECL. This is done by taking into account forecasted economic conditions by
applying both expert judgement and also deploying models that link the performance of the macro
ecglomy to the probability of default (PD) exposure at default (EAD), and toss given defautt
(LGD). Forecasts are developed usinga probability weighted scenario-based approaih to ensure
that the asymmetry of the various economic outcomes iJcaptured in the estimation of ECL.
The company has concluded that three (3) scenarios appropriately capture the non-linearities. The
three scenarios that were applied as at 31 December ZniaZ are:

Base line scenario;
Upside scenario;
Downside scenario

A base case is the central scenario, developed internally based on consensus forecasts, andtwo lesslikely scenarios, one upside and one downside scenario. The central scenario is aligned with
the available macro-economic information. External information considered includes economic data
and forecasts published by governmental.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2O22(CONTI NUED)

4 Significantaccounting policies(continued)

(f) lmpairment of non-financial assets

For all assets, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication
that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. lf such
indication exists, the Company estimates the asset's or CGU's recoverable amount. A previously
recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to
determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized.

(g) Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost or valuation, excluding the costs of day to day servicing,
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment in value.

The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction cost, any costs directly
attributable tobringing the asset into operation, the initial estimate of the decommissioning obligation
and for qualifyingassets, borrowing costs.

The purchase price or construction cost is the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of any other
consideration given to acquire the asset. Residual value; useful life and depreciation methods are
reviewed atleast annually at the reporting date. Changes in the residual value and expected useful life are
accounted for by changing the depreciation charge for the year, and treated as changes in accounting
estimates. An item of propefi, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expectedfrom its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on recognition of the
asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the income statement inthe yearthe asset is derecognized.

On revaluation, surplus is credited to the property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve,
except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income, in which case the increase is recognized in
the statement of comprehensive income. A revaluation deficit is recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income, except to the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset
recognized in the property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve.
An annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to retained earnings is made.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have significantly different useful lives,
they areaccounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment. Although individual
components are accounted for separately, the financial statements continue to disclose a single asset.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 (CoNTINUED)

4 Significantaccountingpolicies(continued)

(h) Property and equipment (continued)

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated

with theexpenditure will flow to the company.

Depreciation is calculated at annual rates estimated to write off carrying values of the assets over their

expecteduseful lives to their estimated residual values.

The annual depreciation rates in use are:

Equipments & Machineries
Computer and equipments
Furniture and fixtures
Vehicles

Rate

20o/o

33.33%

1}Yo

20o/o

(i) lntangible assets

The company's intangible assets include the value of computer software. An intangible asset is

recognizedonly when its cost can be measured reliably and it is probable that the expected future
economic benefits that are attributable to it will flow to the company.
lntangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost on initial recognition. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortizatlon
and any accumulated impairment losses.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be finite. lntangible assets with finite lives are
amortized over the useful life. The amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible
assetwith a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the expected
useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied In the

asset are accountedfor by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and treated
as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is
recognized in profit or loss. Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the

cost of intangible assets over their estimated useful lives of 4 years.

U) lncome tax expense

lncome tax expense is the aggregate amount charged/ (credited) in respect of current tax and
deferred tax in determining the profit or loss for the year. Tax is recognized in the profit and loss
account except when it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income, in which case it
is also recognized in other comprehensive income, or to items recognized directly in equity, in

which case it is also recognized directly in equity

Current income tax
Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for
the year and any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The
amount of current taxpayable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be
paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. lt is measured using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred income tax
Deferred tax is determined for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes, using tax rates and laws

enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and expected to apply when the asset
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is recovered or the liability is settled
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTTNUED)

4 Significantaccountingpolicies(continued)

0) !ncome tax expense (continued)

Current income tax

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settlethe carrying amount of its assets or liabilities. However, for investment property
that is measured using the fair value modet, there is a rebuttable presumption that the carrying
amount of the investment property will be recovered through sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences except those arising on
the initial recognition of an asset or liability, other than through a business combination, that at the
time of the transaction affects neither the accounting nor taxable profit nor loss.
Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available againstwhich temporary differences can be utilized. Recognized and unrecognized
deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and, if appropriate, the
recognized amount is adjusted to reflect the extent that it has become probable that future taxable
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settlethe carrying amount of its assets or liabilities. However, for investment property
that is measured using the fair value model, there is a rebuttable presumption that the carrying
amount of the investment property will be recovered through sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences except those arising on
the initial recognition of an asset or liability, other than through a business combination, that at the
time of the transaction affects neither the accounting nor taxable profit nor loss.
Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which temporary differences can be utilized. Recognized and unrecognized
deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and, if appropriate, the
recognized amount is adjusted to reflect the extent that it has become probable that future taxable
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

(k) Leases

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable
o variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rateas at the commencement date
o amounts expected to be payable by the Company under residual value guarantees
o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that
option,and
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company
exercising thatoption.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 (CoNTINUE D)

L

4 Significantaccounting policies(continued)

(k) Leases (continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. lf that rate cannot be
readilydetermined, which is generally the case for leases in the Company, the lessee's incremental
borrowing rateis used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditlons.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Company where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in
financing conditions since third party financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following; the amount of the initial
measurement of lease liability plus any lease payments made prior to commencement date, initial
direct costs, and estimated costs of restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the
lease, less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the
lease termon a straight-line basis.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following; the amount of the initial
measurement of lease liability plus any lease payments made prior to commencement date, initial
direct costs, and estimated costs of restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the
lease, less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the
lease termon a straighlline basis.

lf the Company is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset's useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value
assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss- Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT equipment and small
items of office furniture.

When the Company is the lessor, the lease must be classified as either a finance lease or an
operating lease. A finance lease is a lease which confers substantially all the risks and rewards of
the leased assets on the lessee.

An operating lease is a lease where substantially all of the risks and rewards of the leased asset
remain with the lessor.

\Men the lease is deemed a finance lease, the leased asset is not held on the balance sheet;
instead a finance lease receivable is recognised representing the minimum lease payments
receivable under the terms of the lease, discounted at the rate of interest implicit in the lease.
When the lease is deemed an operating lease, the lease income is recognised on a straight-line
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (coNTtNUED)

4 Significantaccountingpolicies(continued)

(l) Foreign Currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financials ,r" *"".rred using the currency of the primary economicenvironment in which the entity operates ('the functio,irt 

"uo"n"y'). 
The financial statements arepresented in Rwanda Francs(Frw), which is tre companv'.lrr',Jionaland presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated using daily average exchange rates as declared by theNationalBank of Rwanda. Foreign 

"*"r,rng" 
gains ano losses-resulting from the setlement of suchtransactions andfrom the translition at yeir-eno exchange iates of monetary assets and riabiritiesdenominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the stJtement of comprehensive income.

AII foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of comprehensive incomeaccount within,other income,.

(m) Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid or transfer a liability in anorderly transaction between market partilipants at tne measrLment date. The fair value hierarchygives the highest priority to quoted pri""r (unadjust,eJl-r-r"iir" markets for identicat assets orliabilities (level 1 inputs) and the toweit priority to inooiLrvaiL inprts (Levet 3 inputs).
Level 1 inputs are 

!ygted 
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or riabititiesthat the entity can access at the measurement date.Level 2 inputs are inputs other than qr"t"o prices included within level .1 that are observable forthe assetor liabitity either directty or inOirectty.

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset o.r liability. Unobservable inputs shall be usedto measure fair value to the extent that relevant observadle inputs are not'ruritrot" therebyallowing for situations in which there ii iittr" it any, market ,.iiuity for the 
"ri"io,. riroirity at themeasurement date' However, the fair value measurement objective remains the same i.e. an exitprice at the measurement date from the ferspective of a mar(et participant that holds the asset orowes the liabitity.

illj:?:|S,ff ji,:i|1'fl:re for roans of BRAC, rever 3 hierarchv of fair varue is used to measure

(n) Cash and cash equivalents

cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and demand and term deposits, with maturitiesof three months or less from the oate oi acquisition, ftrat are readily convertible to known amountsof cash and which are subject to iniignifi;rnt risk of changes in varue.

(o) share capitar, accumurated rosses, and capitar awaiting aflocation
ordinary shares are classified as share capital in equity. Any premiums received over and abovethe par value of the shares is ctassitieo aslsnare premium, in equity.

fl:::$';l?,1iff"T""r:?terve or retained earninss reserve is a reserye ror the company,s

capital awaiting allocation is additional cash injected by BRAC lnternationat Hotdings B. V that is
Ijj:",r::."""cated 

to share capital. share ,on"y oeposlt is recognised when the funds have been
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 (c0NTTNUED)
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4 Significantaccountingpolicies(continued)

(p) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligatron as a
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate sf the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at the reporting date taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation.

(q) Grants

Grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attached conditions will be complied with. Where the grant relates to an asset, it is recognized as
deferred income and released to income in equal amounts over the expected useful life of the
related asset. When the grant relates to an expense item it is recognized as income over the period
necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate.

(u) Comparatives

The accounting policies are consistent with those reported in the previous year except for the
adoption of the standards and amendments effective for the current period as set out note 3 to the
financial statements.

(v) Member savings

The initial relationship between customers and the company is that customers are admitted as
members, and all members are required to make savings. These savings consist of a mandatory
part which is determined by the member's group and is collected at the group's weekly meeting.
This is the minimum weekly deposit which is meant to encourage a culture of saving, and members
are free to deposit higher amounts at the same group meeting into the same savings account, and
that additional portion is voluntary savings.

Mandatory and voluntary savings can be withdrawn at any time. However, if the client has taken a
loan, they must leave the minimum percentage amount as required per the loan cycle and loan
amount.)

Member savings are recorded when the funds are received from customers

(v) Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the Functional Currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss

g) Derivativefinancialinstruments

Derivatives, which comprise solely forward foreign exchange contracts, are initially recognised at fair value
on the date the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently measured at fair value. The fair
value is determined using forward exchange market rates at the balance sheet date or appropriate pricing
models.Thederivativesdono1qualiffforhedgeaccountiffiderivativesare
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FoR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CO NTTNUED)

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign

exchange ris(, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and

liquidity risk. The Company's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of

financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on its financial performance' but

the company does not hedge any risks.

The company is faced by liquidity, interest rate, credit and foreign currency risks in regards to its
principal non-derivative financial instruments. The directors review and agree to the policies of

managing these risks. The company does not engage in speculation in the markets and neither

does it tride in derivative financial instruments. The company's main financial instruments are;

o Cash and cash equivalents
o Restricted deposits
o Trade and other receivables
o Trade and other payables
o Amounts due to and from related parties

The main risk arising from the company's' financial instruments are liquidity, foreign currency and

credit risk.

i) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc will encounter difficulty in

meeting obligations from its financial liabilities. BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc's

approaln to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient

liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without

incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc

reputation.

BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc's management maintains a portfolio of shortterm liquid

assets, largely made up of Cash at Bank, to ensure that sufficient liquidity is maintained within

BRAC Rwinda Microfinance Company Plc as a whole. The liquidity position is monitored and

regular liquidity stress testing is conducted under a variety of scenarios covering both normal and

more severe market conditions.

The key measure used by BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc for managing liquidity risk is

the ratib of net liquid assets to deposits from customers. Details of the reported Company ratio of

net liquid assets to deposits from customers at the reporting date and during the reporting year were

as follows:

l

I

I

L

L-

At close of the year
Average for the year
Maximum for the year
Minimum for the year
Minimum statutory requirement

31 December2022
217%
159o/o

268%
37%
30%

31 December 2021
43o/o

91%
114o/o

43%
30o/o

1i_

L-

.tHE

.@ Pwc

ffibrae&
rn L

"nra/c

.'.'..........'...

Rwanda
$rilxted



BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 (CoNT|NUE D)

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

i) Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below summarizes BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc's liquidity risk as at 31
December 2022, categorized into relevant maturity rankings based on undiscounted cash flows.

Liquidity risk On demand
management
Year ended 31 December 2022

tess than 3
months

Frw

1,973,924,893
860,628

3-12 months

Frw

1,302,148,386
85,424,524

1-5 years

Frw

13,801,543

Total

Frw

3,289,874,822
86,285,152

3,599,941,645

Loans to customers
Other assets
Cash and cash
equivalents 3,599,941,645

Total 3,599,941,645 1,974,785,521 1,397 910 13,901,543 6,976,101 ,619

Other liabilities

Related party
payables
Member savings
Term loan

Lease liability

1,367,159,018

524,423

1,668,169

1,744,926,884

269,744,719

397,886,000

92,343,556

1,963,429,810

44,209,556 442,619,979

94,011,725

1,367 ,159,018
3,708,356,694

269,744,719

Total

Excess
liquidity/(gap)

1,367,159,019 2,016,964,195 2,453,659,366 44,209,556 5,881,892,135

2,232,782,627 142,079,674) (1,066,096,456) (30,40g,0131 1,094,209,494

The tabie below summarizes BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc's liquidity risk as at 31
December 2021, calegorized into relevant maturity rankings based on undiscounted cash flows.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE F!NANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 (CoNT!NUED)

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

i) Liquidity risk (continued)

L

Liquidity risk
management

Year ended
December 2021

Loans to customers
Other assets
Cash and cash
equivalents

Total

Other liabilities
Related party payables

Member savings
Term loan
Lease liability

On demand
Less than 3

months

2,366,077,408
3,051,024

3-12 months 1-5 years

6,469,878

Total

2,372,547,286
5,154,260

803,214,280

Frw

2,103,236

803,214,280

803,214,280 2,369,128,432 6,469,878 2,103,236 3,180,915,826

149,008,456
34,887,649

447,941,807
92,338,501

138,901,483
200,637,514

287,909,939
235,525,163

954,695,597 954,695,597

123,118,002 153,897,502 369,354,005

Total 954,695,597 684,176,413 462,656,999 153,897,502 1,847 ,484,704

Excess liquidity/(gap) (151,48'1,3171 1,684,952,019 (456,187,1211 (151,794,2661 925,489,315

ii) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rate, foreign exchange rates
and credit spreads (not relating to changes in the obligor's / issuer's credit standing) will affect the
company's income or the value of its holdings of financial instrurnents. The objective of market risk
management is tomanage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while
optimising the return on risk.

Management of market risk

The company separates its exposure to market risk between trading and non-trading portfolios.
Trading portfolios include positions arising from market making and proprietary position taking,
together with financial assets and liabilities that are managed on a fair value basis.

lnterest rate risk is the risk that fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of the changes in the market interest rates. The company's' exposure to the risk of
changes in market interest rates is minimal since it has no debt obligations with floating interest
rates.
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTINUED)

L

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

ii) Market risk (continued)

lnterest risk sensitivity gap analysis

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates,
with allother variables held constant, of the company's loss before tax.

lnterest risk sensitivity gap anatysis

A summary of the company's interest rate sensitivity gap is as follows:

t-

31-Dec-22

Assets
Loans to customers

Less than
1 Month

Frw

1-3 Months

Frw

3-12
Months

Frur

1-5
Years

Fruv

Total

Frw

3,056,310,884 127,406,436 92,355,959 13,801,543 3,289,874,822

Sensitivity analysis: Effect on loss before
tax

Frw USD
3 1 Dece m ber 2022 + ) 2 Yo 50 930,37

31 December2021 +l-) 2% (32,084,805) (32,397\

3,056,310,994 127,406,436 92,355,959 13,801,543 3,299,974,922Total FinancialAssets

Liabilities
Member savings 53,361,207 138,481,921 268,061,117 954,695,597 1,414,599,842

Total Financial
Liabilities

Total interest repricing
gap

53,361,207 139,491,921 269,061,117 954,695,597 1,414,5gg,g42

3,002,949,677 (11,075,485) (175,705,159) (940,994,054) 1,g75,274,gg0

31-Dec-21
Assets
Loans to customers 2,362,653,835 3,423,573 6,469,878 2,372,547,286

2,362,653,935 3,423,573 6,469,g7g 2,372,547,296
Total FinancialAssets

Liabilities
Member savings 77,610,280 196,110,827 328,207,997 352,766,493 954,695,597

Total Financial
Liabilities

Total interest repricing

77,610,290 196,110,927 329,207,997 352,766,493 954,695,597

2,285,043,555 (192,687,2541 (321,738,119) (352,766,493) 1,417,851,689gap
MI

r-

Effect on loss before
tax

@7.56n
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTTNUED)

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

ii) Market risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk exposure

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. The board of directors has set limits on foreign currency positions. The foreign currency
positlons and revaluations are monitored on daily basis to ensure that positions are maintained within the
established limits.

As at 31 December 2022
Assets
Balances with banks

USD

1,381,364

1,391,364

Total

381,364

1,391,364TotalAssets
Liabilities
Term loan

Related party payables

Donor grants
Other liabilities

Total Liabilities

Net financial position

Foreign currency risk exposure 31-Dec-22

Changes in USD +l- 5o/o

As at 31 December 2021
Assets
Balances with banks

TotalAssets
Liabilities
Related party payables
Donor grants
Other liabilities

Total Liabilities

Net financial position

Foreign currency risk exposure 31-Dec-22

3,600,629
87,803

453,557
6,270

3,600,629
87,BO3

453,557
6,270

4,148,259 4,148,259

(2,766,895) (2,766,895)

Effect on profit
before tax

Effect on profit
before tax

Frw
148,145,265

USD

932,790

USD
138,361

Total

932,790

932,790 932,790

118,956
200,000

8 250

327,206 327,206

605,584 605,584

Effect on profit
before tax

Effect on profit
before tax

USD
'16 ?6n1(lhqnnaq in I lSl-] +/-

Frw

The amounts below summarize the foreign currency exposure position as at 31 December.
I

i
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTINU ED}

L

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

ii) Market risk (continued)

Price risk

The company does not hord any instruments exposed to price risk.

iii) Gredit risk

The company takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will cause a financial losstothe company by failing to pay amounts in full when due. credit risk is the mosi imfiortant risk for the company,sbusiness: management therefore carefully manages the exposure to credit risk. credit exposures arise principallyin lending and investment activities. Theie is alJo credit risk in off-balance sheet financial instruments, such asIoan commitments, however as at 3'1 December 2022lhe company did not have any off balance sheet exposure.credit risk management and control is monitored by management, which reports regularly to the Board ofDirectors.

1. Credit risk measurement
(a) Loans and advances

The estimation of credit exposure is complex and requires the use of models, as the value of a product varies withchanges in market vartables, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The assessment of credit riskof aportfolio of assets entails further estimations as to the likelihood of Jefaults occurrinj, of the associated loss ratiosand of default correlations between counterparties.

ln measuring credit risk of loan and advances to customers and to banks at a counterparty level, the companyre-flects three components (i) the 'probability of default' by the client or counterparty on its contractual obliqations;(ii) current exposures to the counterparty and its likety future devetopment, from yini"r' in" 
-C;;il 

i!r,u", 6,"'exposure at default'; and (iii) the likely recovery ratio on the defaulted obligations (the ,loss gtven Oetaltt,;.

Probability of default

The company assesses-the probability of default of individual counterparties using internat rating tools tailored tothe various categories of counterparty. -.- "e " '

For regulatory purposes and for internal monitoring of the quality of the loan portfolio, all the customers aresegmented into five rating classes as shown below:

ln assessing whether the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significanily, the company compares therisk of default occurring on the financial asset as at the reporting date witn the riik of default occurring on thatfinancial asset as at the date ofinitial recognition. ln doing .,i, t" bompany consideri reasonable and supportableinformation that is indicative of significani increases in ireoit risk since initial recognition and that is availablewithout undue cost or effort.

The Company internal ratings scale
Days in arrears Regulatory rating Company,s ratingsDescription of the grade

Performing
Watch
Substandard
Doubtful
Loss

0 -29
30-89

90- 179
180 - 365

Above 366

1

2
3
4
5

1

2
3
4
5

MlCq
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

F0R THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2A22 (C0NTtNUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

iii) Credit risk (continued)

Exposure at default

Exposure at default is based on the amounts the Company expects to be owed at the time of default.
For example, for a loan this is the face value. For a commitment, the Company includes any amount
already drawn plus the further amount that may have been drawn by the time of default, should- it occur.

Loss given default

Loss given default or loss severity represents the Company expectation of the extent of loss on a claim
should default occur. It is expressed as percentage loss per unit of exposure. lt typically varies by type
of counterparty, type and seniority of claim and availability of collateral or other credit support.

A. Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements
The financial instruments that present the maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account
of anycollateral held or other credit enhancements are disclosed below.

5

Garrying Amount

31 December 2021

Loans to customers (Gross)
lmpairment Loss

Loans to customers Gross (Note 9)

Cash at Bank

Other assets

Loans to customers (Gross)
Impairment Loss

31-Dec
2022

Frw
3,503,9'11,759

3,596,478,716

86,285,152

31-Dec
2021

Frw
2,396,802,645

802,939,376

5,154,260

Total 7,186,675,627 3,204,996,291

B. Credit quality analysis

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of financial assets measured at
amortised cost. Unless specifically indicated, for financial assets, the amounts in the table
represent gross carrying amounts.

Explanation of the terms'Stage 1','Stage 2'and 'Stage 3'is inctuded under Note 2 (h) of the
financialstatements.

Maximum exposure to credit risk - financial instruments subject to ECL impairment

31 December 2022 Stage 1

Frw
3,233,159,746

Stage 2

Frw
134,350,018

Stage 3
Frw

136,40'1,995
(103,308,590)

Total
Frw

3,503,911,759
(50,269 ,274) (60,459,07 3) (214 ,036,937)

3,182,890,472 73,990,945 33,093,405 3,299,974,922

Stage 1

Frw
2,396,802,645

Stage 2
Frw

7,886,254
(4,462,681)

Stage 3
Frw

41,647 ,875

Total
Frw

2,446,336,774
(73,789,488)(34,148,810 (35,177,99 7)

Carrying Amount 62,653,835 3,423,573 6,469,g79 2,372,547,286
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 (C0NTINUED)

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

iii) Credit risk (continued)

C. Credit risk management
Other than the chang-e in credit risk rating for certain exposures, there were no other material changes

to the policies and practices for the management of credit risk in 2022. We continued to apply the

requirements of IFRS 9 'Financial lnstruments'within Credit Risk.

We have established Bank-wide credit risk management and related IFRS I processes. We continue to

assess actively the impact of economic developments in key markets on specific customers, customer

segments or portfolios. As credit conditions change, we take mitigating action, including the revision of

ris[ appetites or limits, adjustment of interest rates and tenors, as appropriate. ln addition, we continue

to evaluate the terms under which we provide credit facilities within the context of individual customer

requirements, the quality of the relationship, market practices and our local regulatory requirements.

Credit risk grading
MicrofinancJs, SEp and Agri- Business uses the National Bank of Rwanda (BNR) credit risk gradings to

reflect its assessment of [he probability of default of retail counterparties. The facilities are rated as

either performing, watch, substandard, doubtful or loss, based on the number of days overdue. The

classification criteria are as follows:

Peiorming
These are credit facilities which are up to date in payments. Where there are no fixed payments,

these arefacilities that are operating within their approval limits and are unexpired.

Watch
These are credit facilities where principal or interest is due and unpaid for 30 days to 89 days, or for

facilities with no fixed payments, the approval limit has been exceeded by 30 days to 89 days, or the

credit line has expired for more than 30 days to 89 days.

Substandard
These are loan balances due for 90 days but less than 180 days. They are also those credit facilities

that display well-defined credit weaknesses that jeopardize the liquidation of the debt such as

inadequate'cash flowto service the debt, undercapitalized or insufficient working capital, absence of

adequate financial information orsecurity documentation and irregular payment of principal or interest.

Doubtful
These are loan balances that are more than 180 days but less than 365 days overdue. They are also

those credit facilities which, in addition to the weaknesses existing in substandard credits, have

deteriorated to the extent that full repayment is unlikely or that realizable security values will be

insufficient to cover the Company exposure.

Loss
These are loans that are more than 365 days overdue. These are also those credit facilities that are

considered uncollectable or which may have some recovery value, but it is not considered practicable

nor desirable to defer write off. They are also accounts classified as "Doubtful" with little or no

improvement over the periodit has been classified as such.

The credit grades are calibrated such that the risk of default increases exponentially at each higher risk

grade. OncE a facility is classified as substandard, the probability of default reaches 100%-

The table below shows the link between the regulator risk classifications and the IFRS 9 stage

allocation forassets for the Company,
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3't DECEMBER2022 (C0NTtNUED)

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

iii) Credit risk (continued)

C. Credit risk management

(continued)Credit grading rating

(continued)

Loss(continued)

D. Expected credit loss measurement

IFRS I outlines a 'three-stage' model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial
recognition as summarised below:

A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in'Stage 1'and
has itscredit risk continuously monitored by the Company.

a

a lf a significant increase in credit risk ('SICR') since initial recognition is identified, the financial
instrument is moved to 'Stage 2' but is not yet deemed to be credit impaired. Please refer to note
5.3.1 fora description of how the Company determines when a significant increase in credit risk has
occurred.

lf the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to 'Stage 3'
Please refer to note 4.e for a description of how the Company defines credilimpaired and default.

A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS I is that it should consider
forward- looking information- Note 4.e includes an explanation of how the Company has
incorporated this in its ECL models.

Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets are those financial assets that are credit-
impaired on initial recognition. Their ECL is always measured on a lifetime basis (Stage 3)-

The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9 (other than
purchased ororiginated credit-impaired financial assets):

Change in credit quality since initial recognition

e1 Stage 3

redit-impaired

a

a

a

2

National Bank of Rwanda
Guidelines

Days past due Stage allocation

Normal 0-29 1

Watch 30-89 2
Sub-standard 90-1 79 3
Doubtful 1 80-364 3
Loss Over 364 or considered uncollectible 3

(Significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition)

(lnitial recognition)
assets)



BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

F0R THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 (CONTINUED)

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

iii) Credit risk (continued)

D. Expected credit loss measurement (continued)

The key judgements and assumptions adopted by the Company in addressing the requirements of the

standard are discussed below:

D.'l Significant increase in credit risk

The Company in determining whether the credit risk (i.e. risk of default) on a financial instrument has

increased significantly since initial recognition considered reasonable and supportable information that

is relevant and available without undue cost or effort, including both quantitative and qualitative

information and analysis based on the Company historical experience, expert credit assessment and

foruvard-lookin g information.

The Company in determining whether the credit risk (i.e. risk of default) on a financial instrument has

increased significantly since initial recognition considered reasonable and supportable information that

is relevant and available without undue cost or effort, including both quantitative and qualitative

information and analysis based on the Company historical experience, expert credit assessment and

fonivard-lookin g information.

The Company identifies a significant increase in credit risk where

. Exposures have a regulatory risk rating of "WATCH"

r An exposure is greater than 30 days this is in line with the IFRS I 30 DPD rebuttable presumption;

. an exposure has been restructured in the past due to credit risk related factors or which was
NPL indis now regular (subject to the regulatory cooling off period);or

. by comparing an exposure:

The assessment of significant deterioration is key in establishing the point of switching between the

requirement to measure an allowance based on 12-month expected credit losses and one that is

based on lifetime expected credit losses.

The Company in determining whether the credit risk (i.e. risk of default) on a financial instrument has
increased'sighificantly since initial recognition considered reasonable and supportable information
that is relevint and available without undue cost or effort, including both quantitative and qualitative

information and analysis basedon the Company historical experience, expert credit assessment and

forward-looking information.

The Company identifies a significant increase in credit risk where

. exposures have a regulatory risk rating of 'WATCH';

. an exposure is greater than 30 days past due - this is in line with the IFRS I 30 DPD
rebuttablepresumption ;

. an exposure has been restructured in the past due to credit risk related factors or which was

NPL and isnow regular (subject to the regulatory cooling off period); or
by comparing an exposure:
credit risk quality at the date of reporting; with

a

a

a the credit risk initial recognition of the exposure
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FoR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTTNUED)

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

iii) Credit risk (continued)

D.1 Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (S/CR) (continued)

The assessment of significant deterioration is key in establishing the point of switching between the
requirementto measure an allowance based on 12-month expected credit losses and one that is based
on lifetime expected credit losses"

The assessment of significant deterioration is key in establishing the point of switching between the
requirementto measure an allowance based on 12-month expected credit losses and one that is based
on lifetime expected credit losses.

Generally, restructuring is a qualitative indicator of default and credit impairment and expectations of
restructuring are relevant to assessing whether there is a significant increase in credit risk. Following
restructuring, a customer needs to demonstrate consistently good payment behaviour over a period of
time before the exposure is no longer considered to be-in defaulVcredit-impaired or the pD is
considered to have decreased such that the loss allowance reverts to being measured at an amount
equalto 12-month ECLs.

The assessment of SICR incorporates fonivard-looking information and is performed on a regular
basis at a portfolio level for all financial instruments held by the Company. The criteria used to
identify SICR are monitored and reviewed periodically for apprbpriateness by the independent Credit
Risk team.

Backstop

A backstop is applied, and the financial instrument considered to have experienced a significant
increase in credit risk if the borrower is more than 30 days past due on its contractual payments.

Thq Cgmp_any has not used the low credit risk exemption for any financial instruments in the year
ended 3'1 December 2022.

D.2 Definition of default and credit-impaired assets

The Company defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with the definition of
credit- impaired, when it meets one or more of the following criteria:

Quantitative criteria
The borrower is more than g0 days past due on its contractual payments.

Qualitative criteria
The borrower meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates the borrower is in significant financial
difficulty. These are instances where:
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 (coNTtNUED)

5 Financiar risk management objectives and poricies (continued)

iii) Credit risk (continued)

D.2 Definition of default and credit_impaired assets

o The borrower is in long{erm forbearance
o The borrower is deceased
. The borrower is insolvent
o The borrower is in breach of financial covenant(s)o An active market for that financial asset has disappeared because of financial difficultieso concessions have been made by the lender relating to the borrower,s financial difficultyo lt is becoming probabre that the borrower wiil enter bankruptcy

CERTIFIED TRUE COPY

THE DOCUMENT

The criteria above ha.ve. been applied to all financial instruments held by the company and areconsistent with the definition of deiiult used for internar cieo'iiiist management purposes. The defauttdefinition has been applied consistentty io.mooel tne Frooiuiliiy of Default (pD), Eiposure at Defautt(EAD) and Loss g iven befault (LG Di tn ioug noii ih,;' C;;;il 
"*p".t"o 

toss catcurations.

An instrument is considered to no longer be in default (i.e. to have.cured).when it no longer meets anyof the default criteria for a consecuiive period or ix montrs] rnis period of six months has beendetermined basedon an analysis *hi;h-ionsioers tne riteiirioio ot a hninciar'iriitrument returning todefault status after cure using different-possibre 
"rr"o"nnltionil'

D'3 Measuring ECL - Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques
The Expected credit Loss (ECL) is measured on either a 12-month (12M) or Lifetime basisdepending on whether a significant increase in credit riir< nas occurred since initial recognition orwhether an asset is considlred to be creoit-impair"a E*p""ted credit losses are the discounted
l:?fl:t::[i#l:"biritv or Deraurt (pD), Expos;; rtb"rr;riilnol, ano iois-civJn'Deraurt (LGD),

o The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation (as per"Definition of default and credit-imoairJu,aoore-j, Jitr,li'tr6r- the next tz montns (i2M pD), orover the remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of flr6'ooiig;tron poi r,ir" 0""-n: devetoped usingempiricat data from the start of operation of enAb il;;;,o EAD is equar to the outstanding exposure at the reporting dateo Loss Given Default (LGD) represents the company 
"rp""trtion 

of the extent of loss on adefaulted exposure. LGD varies bv |yp" or counterfanv, ,vp" and seniority of claim andavailability of collateral or other creoit sjolort. !9d [ 6xpresseo as a percentage toss perunit of exposure at the time of default teAbl. LGD is trrcLrt"o on a 12-month or lifetimebasis, where 12-month LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be made if the defaultoccurs in the next 12 months and Lifetime 16o is tne [elcentage of loss expected to bemade if the default occurs over the remaining expecteitiretime of the loan.o The ECL is determined by projecting the P5, LbD a;; eRo ror. each future month and for eachindividual exposure or coilective segment. These three components are multiplied togetherand adjusted for the likelihood of srirvival ti.e.-tne 
"*porrr" 

has not prepaid or defaulted inan earlier month).
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FoR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 (CONTINUED)

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

iii) Credit risk (continued)

D.3 Measuring ECL - Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques (continued)

This effectively calculates an ECL for each future month, which is then discounted back to the reporting
date and summed. The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original effective interest rate or
an approximation thereof.

The Lifetime PD is developed by applying a maturity profile to the current 12M PD. The maturity profile
Iooksat how defaults develop on a portfolio from the point of initial recognition throughout the lifetime of
the loans.The maturity profile is based on historicalobserved data and is assumed to be the same across
all assets within aportfolio. This is supported by historical analysis.

Foruvard-looking economic information is also included in determining the 12-month and lifetime PD, EAD
andLGD. These assumptions vary by product type.

The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation - such as how the maturity profile of the PDs and
how collateral values change etc.

D.4 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models

The assessment of SICR and the calculation of ECL both incorporate forurrard-looking information. The
Company has performed historical analysis and identified the key economic variables impacting credit
risk and expected credit losses for each portfolio.

These economic variables and their associated impact on the PD, EAD and LGD vary by financial
instrument. Expert judgment has also been applied in this process. Forecasts of these economic
variables(the "base economic scenario").

The impact of these economic variables on the PD, EAD and LGD has been determined by
performing statistical regression analysis to understand the impact changes in these variables have
had historically on default rates and on the components of LGD and EAD.

ln addition to the base economic scenario, the Company credit team also provide other possible
scenarios along with scenario weightings. The three scenarios and their attributes are reassessed at
each reporting date.At 3'1 December 2022, the Company concluded that three scenarios appropriately
captured non-linearities. The scenario weightings are determined by a combination of statistical
analysis and expert credit judgement,taking account of the range of possible outcomes each chosen
scenario is representative of. The assessment of SICR is performed using the Lifetime PD under each
of the base, and the other scenarios, multiplied by the associated scenario weighting, along with
qualitative and backstop indicators. This determines whether the whole financial instrument is in
Stage 1, Stage 2, or Stage 3 and hence whether 12-month or lifetimeECL should be recorded.
Following this assessment, the Company measures ECL as either a probability weighted 12-month
ECL (Stage 1), or a probability weighted lifetime ECL (Stages 2 and 3). These proOaOitity weighted
ECLs are determined by running each scenario through the relevant ECL model and multiplying it Oy
the appropriate scenario weighting (as opposed to weighting the inputs).
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5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

iii) Credit risk (continued)

D.4 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models (continued)

Economic variable assumptions
The most significant period-end assumptions used for the ECL estimate as at 31 December 2022 and
31 December 2021 are set out below. The scenarios "base", "upside" and "downside" were used for all
portfolios.

The weightings assigned to each economic scenario at 31 December were as follows:

The welghts of Base and Upside have decreased/increased slightly reflecting the small change in
dispersion in the scenarios. The impact on ECL is immaterial.

D.5 Sensitivity analysis

The most significant assumptions affecting the ECL allowance are as follows
(i) Collateral haircuts, and
(ii) Period to recovery of collateral

Set out below are the changes to the ECL as at 31 December 2022 that would result from reasonably
possible changes in these parameters from the actual assumptions used in the Company economic
variable assumptions.

Time to realisation: As the type of loan security deposited by the customer is cash, in these
arrangements thedirector have assumed time to realisation of cash collateral immediately after the loan
write off.

Collateral haircuts: The directors have assumed collateral haircuts for cash collateral are negligible due
to highdegree of certainty on the value, credit quality and liquidity of the security.
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Base scenario Upside Downside
Macroeconomi
cfactors

Next f2
months

Next 12
months

Remaining
forecast
period

Next 12
months

Remaining
forecast
period

Domestic GDP 7% 7o/o 8% 8o/o 6% 60/o
lnterest rates 5o/o 5% 60/o 6o/o 4o/o 4%
lnflation 5o/o 5% 4% 4o/o 6% 6%

Base Upside Downside
o/to % Yo

Asat31 December2022
Scenario probability weighting 45 30 50

As at 31 December2021
Scenario probability weig hting 40 30 30
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 (CONTTNUED)

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

iii) Credit risk (continued)

D.6 Credit exposure

Maximum exposure to credit risk - Financial instruments subject to impairment

The following tables contain an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial instruments for which an
ECL allowance is recognised. The gross carrying amount of financial assets below also represents the
Company maximum exposure to credit risk on these assets.

Loans and advances

Stage 1

12-month ECL

3,233,159,746

3,233,159,746
(50,269,274)

134,350,018
(60,459,073)

136,401 ,995
136,401,995

(103,308,590)

2022
ECL staging

Stage 2 Stage 3

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

134,350,018

TotalFrw

2021

2,396,802,645
7,886,254

41,647,875
2,446,336,774

Normal
Watch
Default
Gross carrying amount
Expected credit loss

L-.
(73, 789,488)

Carrying amount 3,182,890,472 73,890,945 33,093,405 3,289,874,822 2,372,547,286

A
A-
ff+
AA
B

B+
BB-

Stage 1

12-month ECL

3,039,024,516

557,454,200

Cash at Bank
2022

Stage 2 Stag 3
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

2021
Total

3,039,024,516 679,726,754 _

557,454,200 123,212,622

3,596,478,716 802,939,376

L

t*

Expected credit loss

Carrying amount

\ED

\ A w3

!![bracf1

3,596,478,7'16

A1E ffi. o'rC Rwanda
ut(0\tet

3,233,159,746
134,350,018
136,401,995

3,503,91 1,759
(214,036,937)



BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 (CONTTNUED)

t
L

I

L

I

L

L

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

iii) Gredit risk (continued)

D.6 Credit exposure (continued)

Below is a transitional table between stages between 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021

Stage 1

Frw 000

2,396,802,645

31 December 2022
Stage2 Stage3 Total
Frw 000 Frw 000 FRw 000

7,886,254 41,647,875 2,446,336,774
L-

{

L
I

L
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Gross loans as at 1 January 2022

Transfers from stage 1 to stage 2 and 3
Transfers from stage 2 to stage 1 and 3
Transfers from stage 3 to stage 1 and 2
New loans issued
Subsequent change in loans

Net movement in gross loans

Financial asset derecog nised

Gross loans as at 31 December 2022

Gross loans as at 1 January 2021
Transfers from stage 1 to stage 2
Transfers from stage 2 to stage '1

Transfers to stage 3
New exposures disbursed
Subsequent maturities

Net movement in gross loans

Financial asset derecognised

Gross loans as at 31 December 2021

LllIC

(90,763,660) 3,319,047
(1,507,505)

87,444,613
1,507,505

3,233,183,257
(2,646,474)

'r34,580,814
(2,355,655)

60,342,872
(12,8e2,ee5)

3,428,106,943
(17,895,124)

3,233,159,746 134,350,018 176,249,259 3,543,759,023

(39,847,264) (39,847,264)

3,233,159,746 134,350,018 136,401,995 3,503,911,759

Stage 1

FRw 000

865,085,302

1,922J8

2,396,802,645
(867,007,482)

2,615,905

6,052,070

6,129,127
(6,e10,848)

31 December 2021
Stage2 Stage3 Total

FRw000 FRw000 FRw000

26,682,899 894,384,106

25,228,987 33,203,237
2,258,311 2,258,311
5,187,599 5,187,599

14,878,358 2,417,810,130
(16,e34,333) (890,852,663)

2,396,802,645 7,886,254 57,301,821 2,461,990,720

- (15,653,946) (15,653,946)

2,396,802,645 7,886,254 41,647,9752,446,336,774
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FoR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 (CONTTNUED)

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

iii) Credit risk (continued)

D.6 Credit exposure (continued)

Stage 1

(56,301,050)

50,269,274
54,586,262

31 December 2022
Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Loss allowance as at 1 January 2022 34,'148,810 4,462,681 35,177,997 73,789,488

Movements with P&L impact

Transfers from stage 1 to stage 2 and 3
Transfers from stage 2 to stage 1 and 3
Transfers from stage 3 to stage 1 and 2
ECL on new exposure raised
Subsequent changes in ECL

Net movement to profit or loss

Other movements with no P&L impact
Financial asset derecognised

Loss altowance as at 31 December
2022

Transfers from stage 1 to stage 2
Transfers from stage 2 to stage 1

Transfers to stage 3
Transfers from stage 3
ECL on new exposure raised
Subsequent changes in ECL

Net movement to profit or loss

Other movements with no P&L impact
Financial asset derecognised

Loss allowance as at 31 December

82,703,296 64,668,479 138,486,597 295,859,363

(32,434,023) (4,209,407) (35,177,997) (71,821,427)

50,269,274 60,459,072 103,308,590 214,036,936

6,239
(359,572)

60,4s2,834
106,297

46,654,207 157,376,315
54,692,559

L-

Loss allowance as at 1 January 2021 12,916,672 873,536 15,086,1 16 28,876,324

Movements with P&L impact

Stage 1

Frw 000

15,039,080 1,3s7 ,722

31 December 2021
Stage 2 Stage 3
Frw 000 Frw 000

19,934

Total
Frw 000

19,934

34,148,810
(27,955,752)

4,442,747
(2,231,258)

6,206,209
12,574,986
16,964,632

16,396,802
6,206,209

51 ,166,543
(13,222,378)

L

21,232,138 3,589,145 35,745,827 60,567,'110

(15,653,946) (15,653,946)

34,149,910 4,462,681 35,177,997 73,789,488

lrffibra* ft

a)2021

56,294,811
359,572



BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2OLI(CONT| NUED)

5 Financiar risk management objectives and poticies (continued)

iii) Credit risk (continued)

D.7 Collateral

The table below summarises carrying amounts of collateral held against loans to customers

Carrying Fair value

Al""l3l; stage 1 stase 2 stase' o,,orn', 
"r,,"r"r.i, 

Net exposure

Frw Frw Frw Frw Frw Frw
3,182,567,928 73,890,946 33,415,949 3,289,874,822 510,466,655 2,779,408,167

3,192,567,929 73,g90,946 33,415,949 3,2gg,g74,g22 510,466,655 2,779,40g,167

Loans to
customers

Grand total

Associated
ECL

Fruv

214,036,937

214,036,937

As at 31-Dec Stage 1

2021

Frw

:;3[.,,:,. 2,362,6s3,835

Grand total 2,362,653,g35

D.8 Write-off poticy

Staqe , Carrying Fair value Nete<posure- Amount of collateral
Frw Frurr Frw Frw

6,469,878 2,372,547,286 350,521,643 2,022,025,643

6,469,979 2,372,547,296 350,521,643 2,022,025,643

Stage 2

Frw

3,423,573

3,423,573

Associated
ECL

Frw

73,789,488

73,799,499

L

L

L

The Company writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practicalrecovery efforts and has concluded there is.no reasonable expectation of recovery. lndicators that thereis no reasonable expe.ctation 
_of 

recovery include (i) ceasini Lnforcement activity and (ii) where thecompany recovery method is foreclosing on collateial and th'e value of the collateral is such that thereis no reasonable expectation of recovering in full.

The Company may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. Theoutstanding contractual amounts of such assets written off during the y"ar ended 3t oecemo er 2022was FRw 39,847,264 (2021: FRw 15,653,946). The Company stitiseeki to ,ecorer amounts it is tegalyowed in full, but which have been partially written off due io no ,"r"onable expectation of full recovery.

D.9 Modification of financial assets

The company sometimes modifies the terms of loans provided to customers due to commercialrenegotiations, or for distressed loans, with a view to maximizint .u"ou"ry.

such restructuring activities may include extended payment term arrangements, payment holidaysand payment forgiveness' Restiucturing policies and practices are based on indicators or criteriawnlcft, in the judgement of managemJni, inoicate tnat payment will most likely continue. Thesepolicies are kept under continuous review. Restructuring is most commonly applied to term loans.The risk of default of such assets after modification is-assessed at the reporting date and comparedwith the risk under the original terms at initial recognition, when the modification is not substantial andso does not result in derecognition of the originll asset. The Company monitors the subsequentperformance of modifiedassets. The company may determine that the credit risk has significanlyimproved after restructuring, sothat the assets are moved from Stage a or stige i'(Lifetime ECL) toStage 1 (12-month ECL). This is only the case for assets which have performed in accordance withthe new terms for six consecutive mohths or more.

CERTIFIED TRUE COPY



BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 (CONTTNUED)

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

iii) Credit risk (continued)

D,I0 Concentration of credit
risk

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counterparties or exposures have comparable
economiccharacteristics, or such counterparties are engaged in similar activities or operate in the
same geographical areas or industry sectors so that their collective ability to meet contractual
obligations is uniformly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. We use a
number of controls and measures to minimise undue concentration of exposure in our two client
segments. These include portfolio and counterparty Iimits, approval and review controls.

The Company monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector. An analysis of concentrations of credit
risk atthe reporting date is shown below:

Group loans
Small Enterprise loans
Agri Business loans

Assets in foreign currencies
Liabilities in foreign currencies
Net foreign currency exposure
at the end ofthe year

31 December 2022
FRw'000 o/o age

31 December2021
FRw'000 Yo age
2,045,097,945 86%

299,587,072 13%
27 862 269 1%

2,880,767,938
460,360,056
162,783,765

82.21%
13.15%
4.64%

Gross loans 3,503,911,759 100o/o 2,446,336,774 100Yo

Foreign
exchange

risk

Foreign exchange exposures in transactional currencies other than the local currency are
monitored via periodic cash flow and budget forecasts and are kept to an acceptable level. The
company's transactionalexposures give rise to foreign currency gains and losses that are
recognized in profit or loss.

31 December2022 31 December2021

iii)

FRw'000
1,479,043,011

4,441,948,303

USD
1,381,364

(4,148,259

FRw'000
329,210,109

993,689,042

USD
326,074

(984,223)

(2,962,905,2921 (2,766,895) (664,478,933) (658,149)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the below
mentioned exchange rates of major transaction currencies, with all other variables held constant, of
BRAC Rwanda Microfinance Company Plc profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of
monetary assets andliabilities).

Currency lncrease/decrease in
exchange

rate

31 December 2022

FRw'000
148,145,265-

(148,145,265)

31 December 2021

FRw'000
3,834,175

(3,834,175)

&*

!sICft

CFRTIFIFF TRIJE COPY"T*

USD +sYo
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FoR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTTNUED)

5 Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

v) Operationalrisk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with
the company's' processes, personnel, technology, and infrastructure and from external factors other
than credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and
generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. The company's' objective is to manage
operational risk so as to prevent damage to its reputation and avoid control procedures that restrict
initiative and creativity. The directors have the responsibility of developing and implementing controls to
address operational risks. This is supported by the company standards for the manigement of
operational risks in;

o Compliance and legal requirements
o Trainingandprofessionaldevelopment
o Ethical and business standards
o Development of contingency plans
o Compliance with legal and regulatory requirements
o Developing requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risk faced and the

adequacy ofcontrols and procedures to address the risks identified.

vi) Capital Management

The company manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximizing the return to shareholders through the optimization of the debt anO equiiy balance. The
capital structure of the company consists of cash and cash equivalents and equity atiriOutaOte to equity
holders, comprising issued capital and retained earnings.

6 Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances are net of charges for impairment. The estimated fair value of loans and advances
representsthe discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received. Expected cash
flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value.

Fairvalue hierarchy
The company measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the significance
of theinputs used in making the measurements.

Level 1: lnputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical instruments.

Level 2: lnputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either direcly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued usingi quoted
market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments
in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs
are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

Level 3: lnputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the valuation
technique includes inputs that are not observable and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on
the instrument'svaluation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for
similar instruments for which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect
differences between the instruments.

TF)r lr



BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBERhO22(CONTINUED r)

6 Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued)

All financialassets are held at amortised cost and none at fair value. Therefore, amortised cost approximates
fairvalue.

31 December2022

Loans to customers
Derivatives at fair value through
profit or loss
Other assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Total

Other liabilities
Donor grant
Term loan
Lease Iiability

Total

31 December 2021

Loans to customers
Other assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Total

Other liabilities
Donor grant
Term loan
Lease liability

Total

Level f
FRW

Level 2
FRW

3,289,874,822

146,206,506

86,285,152
3,599,941,645

Level 3
FRW

Total
FRW

3,289,874,822

146,206,506

86,285,152
3,599,941,645

7,122,309,125 7,122,309,125

442,619,978
485,629,389

3,855,236,678
269,744,719

442,619,978
485,629,389

3,855,236,678
269,744,719

5,030,230.764 5,030,230 ,764

Level 1

FRW
Level 2

FRW
2,372,547,286

5,154,260
803,214,280

Level 3
FRW

Total
FRW

2.372,547,286
5,154,260

803,214,280

3,180,915,926 3,180,915,926

287,909,939

302,218,314
407,941,807
369,354,005

287,909,939

302,218,314
407,941,807
369,354,005

t_

1,367,424,065 1,367,424,065
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 (CONTINUED)
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7 Property and equipment

Yearended 31 December
2022

Cost

Furniture
& Fixtures

Frw

Computer &
Peripherals

Frw

Equipment &
Machineries

Frw

Vehicles

Frw

Total

Frw

318,809,981As at 1 January2022
Additions

Depreciation
As at 1 January 2022
Charge for the year

Depreciation

As at 1 January2021
Charge for the year
Asset depreciation
transferto BIHBV RO
Disposal adjustment
Others adjustment

As at 31 December 2021

Carrying amounts
As at 31 December 2021

gM

83,792,750
37,291,800

117,267,531
230,477,721

52,880,500
28,728,000

64,869,200
39,428,651 335, 926,172

As at 31 December 2022 121,084,550 347,745,252 81,608,500 104,297,851 654,736,153

12,759,787
10,473,854

47,950,354
88,328,734

14,784,155
13,415,746

32,197,691
19,351 ,915

107,691,987
131,570,249

As at 31 December 2022 23,233,641 136,279,088 28,199,901 51,549,606 239,262,236

Carrying amounts

As at 31 December 2022 97,850,909 211,466,164 53,408,599 52,748,245 415,473,917

Yearended 31 December
2021
Gost
As at 1 January2021
Additions
Asset transfer to BIHBV
Disposal adjustment

Computer Equipment Vehicles TotalFurniture
& Fixtures

Frw
59,026,750
24,463,500

302,500

Frw
84,598,305
33,717,226

Frw
40,667,000
12,733,500

Frw
63,369,200

1,500,000

Frw
247,661,255

72,414,226
302,500

(1 048,000) (520,000) (1 ,568, 000)

As at 31 December 2021 83,792,750 117,267,531 52,880,500 64,869,200 318,809,981

13,533,045
7,173,049

45,378

11,643,317
32,240,615

9,898,958
9,372,748

11,482,182
12,723,824

46,557,502
61 ,510,236

45,378

(421,129)(194,702)
4,261,124

(226,427)
(7,9e1, 685) (4,261,124) 7,991,685

12,759,787 47,950,354 ',14,784,155 32,197,691 107,691,987

71,032,963 69,3 17,177 38,096,345 32,671,509
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2022

8 lntangible assets

Cost
As at 1 January

Additions

As at 31 December

Amortization
As at 1 January

Charge for the year

9 Loans and advances

Group loans (Microfinance)

Small Enterprises Program (SEP)

Agri-Business
Add: lnterest receivable

Less: Loan write off MF

Less: Loan write off SEP
Less: Loan write off Agri-Business

Less: lmpairment loss on loans

Opening balance
Add: Loans disbursement MF
Add: Loans disbursement SEP
Add: Loans disbursement AGRI Business
Less: Loan realization MF
Less: Loan realization SEP
Less: Loan realization Agri Finance
Less: Loan write off MF
Less: Loan write off SEP
Less: Loan write off Agri-Business

Principa! outstanding

Add: lnterest receivable
Less: lnterest receivable - write-off

Less: lmpairment loss on loans

2022
Frw

64,598,932

194,263,423

2021

Frw

54,406,930

10,192,002

258,862,355 64,598,932

32,524,675
55,548,867

18,710,606

13,814,069

As at 31 December

Carrying amounts

As at 31 December

88,073,542 32,524,675

170,788,813 32,074,257

lntangible asset is sbiCloud software, T24 software,Payroll software, and a tab based Digital Field

Application.

2022
Frw

2,843,909,644
453,992,410

154,275,899

83,143,056

(15,592,647)
(10,042,663)

(223,956)

(214,036,937)

2021

Frw
2,082,940,783

301,087,072

27,862,269
49,182,155

(13,235,505)

(1,500,000)

(73,78e,488)

As at 31 December

The movement on the loan accounts is analysed as shown below;

3,289,874,822 2,372,547,286

2,397,154,619
6,798,640,000

694,600,000
313,800,000

(6,024,43s,634)
(545,744,646)
(187,386,370)

(15,592,647)
(10,042,663)

1229plq

878,638,359
4,226,160,016

423,200,000
33,830,000

(2,854,731,700)
(289,238,820)

(5,967,731)
(13,235,505)

(1,500,000)

3,420,768,703

97,131,054
(13,987,998)

(214,036,937)

2,397,154,619

50,100,596
(918,441)

(73,789,488)



BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBTF.Z,OZZ

9 Loans and advances (continued)

The movement on the impairement is shown below;

At 1 January
Add: Charge for the year
Less: Loan write off MF
Less: Loan write off SEP
Less: Loan write off Agri-Business
Less: lnterest receivable write-off MF
Less: lnterest receivable write-off SEP

10 Other assets

Prepaid medical insurance
Receivable from advance to 3'd Party
Receivable from RRA

11 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash in hand
Cash at bank

12 Share capital

Balance brought forward
Capitalisation in the year

469,354 ordinary shares of Rwf '10,000 each

13 Other capita! contribution

At 1 January
Addition
Converted in share capital

14 Accumulated losses

Brought fonrvard losses
Loss for the year

2022
Frw

73,789,488
180,094,7'13
(15,592,647)
(10,042,663)

(223,e56)
(8,680,233)
(5,307,765)

2021
Frw

28,876,324
60,567,1 '10

(13,235,505)
(1,500,000)

(430,428)
(488,0t13f

214,036,937 73,789,488

85,424,524_
2,103,236
3,051,024860 628

86,285,152 5,154,260

3,462,929
3,596,478,716

274,904
802 939 376

803,214,2803,599841,645

3,281,460,000
1,412,080,000

1,400,600,000
1,880,860,000

4,693,540,000 3,281 ,460,000

1,412,080,000
2,718,530,000

(1,412,080,000)

1,880,864,637
1,412,07s,363

(1,880,860,0q!)

2,718,530,000 1,412,080,000

(3,413,529,579)
(2,552,706,256)

(1,809,289,316)
(1,604,240,263)

(5,966,235,835)

U
fn
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONTINUED)
l

15 Member savings

Compulsory savings/loan securitY

Voluntary savings

16 Other liabilities

Accrual for salary
Other liabilities
Statutory deductions
Withholding tax PaYable
Accrual for Social Security BenefiUSelf lnsurance

Audit fee accrual

17 Donor grants

Opening balance
Utilized grant in the Year

Subtotal
Whole planet foundation
Opening balance
Grant from whole planet foundation
Utilized grant in the Year

Subtotal

Social performance task Force
Opening balance
Grant from social performance task Force

Utilized grant in the Year
Subtotal

Mastercard foundation
Opening balance
Grant from Mastercard foundation
Utilized grant in the Year

Subtotal

2022
Frw

520,938,867
893,660,975

2021
Frw

350,521,643
604,173,954

1,414,599,842 954,695,597

I
L-2022

Frw
524,423

201,577 ,153
89,911,135

126,390,717
10,851,538
'13,365,0',l2

2021
Frw

282,000
57,66'1 ,818
65,330,026

140,521,076
5,994,594

18, 120,425

442,619,978 287,909,939

2022
Frw

2021
Frw

20,516,839
(20,516, 839)

302,218,314
166,228,361

193,686,000
302,218,314

(365,718,314) (193,686, 000)

102,728,361

5,876,891
(s,876, 891 )

791,O42,A28
(408, 141,000) I

382,901,028

485,629,389

@
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL SrRrEUIrrurS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2OL2(CONTINUED)

17 Donor grants (continued)

The Whole Plant Foundation agreem ent of 22 November 2019 was for a grant of USDg60,000 over 3 years
tofund working capital for general microfinance products in all branches throughout the country. The iunds
weredisbursed as USD300,000 in year 1 (2020); followed by USD200,000 In year 2 (2021), and finaly
USD300,000 in year 3 (2022). The money is to be utilized in providing loans to critor"rs.
The company is required to submit progress reports 25 days after each quarter end stating the progress of
theproject and its successes. The company is also required to submit annual financial reports at thJ end of
its financialyear.

The whole Plant Foundation agreement of 13 September 2022 was for a grant of US560,000 over 3 years
tofund working capital for Agricultural loan products in 16 branches throughout the country. The funds were
disbursed as USD160,000 in year 1 (2022); followed by USD200,o5o in year 2 (2023), and finaly
USD200,000 in year 3 (2024). The money was utilized in providing loans to customers.
The company is required to submit progress reports 25 days after each quarter end stating the progress of
theproject and its successes.The company is also required to submit annual financial ,epJrt" ,i1.," end of
its financial year.

The Stichting BRAC lnternational agreement of 13 June 2022was for a grant of Mastercard foundation
USD756,616 and was received in2022 to provide support to young women in Rwanda.

The company is also required to submit quarterly financial reports 20 calendar days after the end of thecalendar quarter.

18 Term Loan

Short term loan
Accrued interest

Cash and cash equivalents
Short term loan

2022
Frw

3,854,563,200
673 478

3,855,236,679

202'l
Frw

403,848,000
2,046,904

405,894,904

BRAC Rwanda Microfinance_Company Plc secured a term loan amounting to USD 2 million from BRAClnternational Finance BV (BlFB.v) in May 2022for a period of 40 months from the date of disbursementwith grace period of 4 months on the principal faciiity and paying interest accruing during the grace
period on a quarterly basis. The loan is quoted at the rate of s.asx iixed us Dollar rate with no expected
increase until maturity. The loan was obtained for facilitating micro-finance lending.

BRAC Rwanda Microfinance_Company Plc secured a term loan amounting to USD 1.6 million fromBRAC lnternational Finance BV (B|FB.V) in September 2022 for a period of I0 months from the date ofdisbursement with grace period of 4 months on the principal facility and paying interest accruing during
the grace period on a quarterly basis. The loan is quoted ai the rate of 6.g5% fixed US Dollar rate with noexpected increase until maturity. The loan was obtained for facilitating micro-finance lending.

USD (Fixed) vs. RWF (Fixed) cross currency swap Transaction: Fixing definition for future payments -again, the standard ISDA definition for USbRWF would be Where ;USolRwr CB avg." means theUSD/RWF arithmetic mean of Buying and Selling exchange rates of RWF against USD, as displayed onthe website of the central Bank of Rwanda and'is expres"sed as the amoun[of Rwandan Franc per oneUnited States Dollar, on that Valuation Date. Reference currency is RWF and Setlement currency isUSD,

2022
Frw

(3,599,941,645)
3,855,236,678

269,744,719

2021
Frw

(803,214,280)
405,894,904
329,522,525Lease liab

525,039,752 (67,796,951)
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CO NTTNUED)

18 Term Loan (continued)

At start of year

Additions during the year
lnterest expense
lnterest repayments
Principal repayments

Total borrowings

Net debt reconciliation

Net debt as at 1 January
2021
Cash flows 405,894,904 329,522,525

2022
Rwf '000

405,894,904

4,244,222,850

148,437,800
(147,765,7s1)
(941,761 ,060)

3,955,236,679

Short term
loan

Lease liability Cash and
equivalents

(1,143.969,242)

340,754,962

(1,143,969,242)

1,076,172,391

Total

Net debt as at 31
December2021 405,894,904 329,522,525 340,753,g1g (67,796,g51)

Cash flows 3,449,341,774 (59,777,806) (2,796,727,365) 592,836,603

Net debt as at 3'1

December 2022 3,855,236,679 269,744,719 (3,599,941,645) 525,039,752

19 lncome on loan interest

Group loans (Microfi nance)
Small Enterprises program (SEp)
Loan appraisalfee
Agri-business

2022
Fnnt

984,411,311
177,127,296
78,091,900
31,604,123

1,271,234.630:

47,454,389
181,683,126
148,439,229
54,540 051

432,11 6,795

2021
Frw

543,148,563
86,559,607
46,831,900

1,967,727

679,507 ,797
20 lnterest & other financial expense

lnterest on member savings
Other financial expenses
lnterest on term loan
lnterest on lease liability

21,718,889
546,040

2,A46,904
39 831 480

3f,brac t11u
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (CONT! NUED}

21 Membership and other fees

Membership fee
Loan application fee
Sales of passbook

22 Other income

Other income

23 Net foreign exchange income

Unrealised foreign exchange loss
Fair value of SWAP
Realized exchange gain

24 Grant income

Portion of utilized grant - BRAC USA
Portion of utilized grant -Whole Planet Foundation
Portion of utilized grant -Mastercard Foundation
Social performance task force

25 Expected credit loss

Loan loss provision expense

31 December 2022 Stage 1

Fruv

29,037,136

2022
Frw

30,190,000
518,000

10,498,500

41,206,500

2022

277

Frw
633

n?,633

2022
Frw

(152,394,145)
146,206,506
58,264,306

52,076,667

2022
Frw

365,718,314
408,141,000

773,859,314

2022
Fnar

180,094,713

180,094,713

2021
Frw

24,106,000
371,000

9,660,000

34,137,000

2021

Frw
303,450

303,450

2021

Frw
10,469,207

31,808,981

42,278,188

2021
Frw

20,516,839
193,686,000

5,876,891

220,079,730

2021
Frw

60,567,1 10

60,567,1 10

Stage 2

Fnru

56,'1 52,680

Stage 3
Frw

94,904,897

Total
Frw

180,094,713Loss allowance

31 December2021
Loss allowance 21,232,138 4,306,392 35,028,580

AMI
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26 Employee benefits

Salaries
Leave salaries
Social security benefit expense
Staff bonus

27 Other operating expenses

Utilities

Travel and transportation
I nternational travels Al M

Air tickets & VISA cost
Accommodation (hotel fare)
Staff Perdiem

Wi-Fi, mobile SIM & biil

Maintenance and general expenses
Meals

Bank charges

Medical expenses

Business license & registration
Need Assessment cosUsurvey cost
Vehicle maintenance & fuel
Software development & purchase

Digital Field Assistant-AtM

Financial literacy Trn-Al M

Centralization and streamlining of lT systems-AlM
lmpact Survey 60 decibels-AtM
Member death benefit
HO logistics expenses
Local staff training cost
Stationary expenses
Uniform cosUcampaign and community
sensitization
Visibility & communication expense
Professional & consultancy fees
Audit fees

1,797,592,904 1,214,926,199

2022
Frw

1,548,138,609
51,123,059
86,975,243

1 11,355,893

2021
Frw

1,078,671,014

l2022
Frw

21,903,345
188,807,682

'1,616,897

110,825,459

50,778,976
45,242,542

114,912,241

343,429,366

98,317,864

1 1,289,130

150,379,440

2,428,825
17,884,250

15,200,904

94,185,702

15,323,200

2,112,000

330,419,647

28,035,046

2,520,000

81,'185,893

93,249,280

68,012,084

2,863,726

54,019,740

19,546,796
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2021

Frw
'19,790,946

101,106,073

29,431,648
'1,162,500

1,600,000

47,772,523

138,403,732

62,322,996

4,784,034
41,240,663

1,812,475

39,633,777

6,433,758

103,261,762

1,530,000

316,394,804

13,218,116

65,584,642

245,300

2,680,000

24,715,100

18,120,425
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 (CONTINUED)

28 Depreciation & amortization

Depreciation expense

Amortization expense

Depreciation of ROU asset

29 Cash generated from operations

Loss before income tax

Adjustments for:

Depreciation & amortization

Loan impairment

Foreign exchange gain

Reclassification in property & equipment*

Cash flow before changes in working
capital
Changes in working capital:
Decrease in receivables and other eurrent
assets
lncrease in loans

lncrease in donor grant

(Decrease)/ lncrease of related party payables
lncrease in deposits

lncrease/(decrease) of current liabilities

131,570,249

55,548,867

129,947,536

61,510,236
'13,814,069

123,340,228

317,066,652 198,664,533

2022

Frw
(2,552,706,256)

317,066,652

180,094,713

(2,055,544,991)

(261,298,2ee)

(1,063,461,348)

183,411,075

(141,513,437)

459,904,245

154,710,040

2021

Frw
(1,604,240,263)

198,664,533

60,567,'110

(42,278,188)

1,146,870

(1,386,139,939)

32,719,738

(1,534,170,206)

88,015,475

139,550,596

601,929,104
138,878,060

Net cash used in operations (2,723,792,615!. (1,919,217,1711

30. Related party transaction

BRAC is 99.9% owned by BRAC international B.V a company incorporated in The Hague, The
Netherlands.The ultimate controlling party is BRAC international. There are other companies that are
related to the company through common shareholdings or common directorships.

Related party balances and the transactions carried out with related parties are set out below:

The movement for the balances above is as shown below
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BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 (CONTINUED)

30. Related party transaction (continued)

a) Key managementpersonnelcompensation

Salaries and wages

As at 31 December

b) Directors' emoluments

As non-executive

As at 31 December

c) Transactions with related patty

Managernent Fees
lnterest on term loan

d) Related partY PaYable

BRAC lnternational Holdings B.V
Payable to BRAC Bangladesh

As at 31 December

31 Right of Use Asset and Lease liability

a) Opening balance-Right of use of assets

Additions

Modifications

For the Period -Net Movement

Accumulated Depreciation of ROU assets

b) Openingbalance-Leaseliability

Additions

lnterest on lease liabilitY

Modifications

Cash PaYment
For the Period -Net Movement

(123,340,228)

299.105,642 371,668,785

329,522,525

111,634,354

54,540,051

(50,794,010)

(175,158,201)

(59,777,806)

495,009,013

39,831,480

(205,317,968)

2022
Frw

137 585,719

2021
Frw

111 967 164

4.129,8517,378,344

2,200,000

2021
Frw

1 000

2022
Frw

2,2oo,ooo 1,2oo,o0o

94,011,725
148,439,229

235,525,163
2,046,904

237 067

2022
Frw

92,343,556
1,668,169

2021
Frw

235,525,163

94,011,725 235,525,163

2022
Frw

495,009,013

111,634,354

(54,249,961)

57,384,393

(253,287,764)

2021

Frw

495,009,013

269.744,719 2,525



BRAC RWANDA MICROFINANCE COMPANY PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2022 (coNTTNUED)

32 Derivatives

Currency swaps assets
Currency swaps liabilities

The Company uses the following derivative instruments for non-hedging purposes which comprise solely
of currency swaps.

Currency swaps held are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for another and result in an
economic exchange of currencies. The Company's credit risk represents the potential cost to replace the
swap contracts if counterparties fail to fulfill their obligation. This risk is monitored on an ongoing basis
with reference to the current fair value, a proportion of the notional amount of the contracts and the
liquidity of the market- To control the level of credit risk taken, the Company assesses counterparties
using the same techniques as for Iending activities.

The derivative instruments held become favourable (assets) or unfavourable (liabilities) as a result of
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates relative to their terms. The aggregate contractual or notional
amount of derivative financial instruments on hand, the extent to which tne instruments are favourable or
unfavourable, and thus the aggregate fair values of derivative financial assets and liabilities, can fluctuate
significantly from time to time. The derivatives held by the Company are classified as financial assets at
fair value through the profit or loss. The fair values bf derivative financial instruments held are set out
below:

2022

Frw

3,854,563,200

(3,708,356,694)

2021

Frw

L

146,206,506

32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

There were no capitalcommitments as at year end. (2021; None).

33. TAX

As per Law N" 00612021 of 05t0212021 on investment promotion and facilitation, the company is
exempt from taxes for five years from the date of registration of 28 September 201g. As such the
income tax expense Nil (2021 Nil) and no deferred taxes have been computed.

34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The company had no contingent liabilities as at 3.1 December 2022 (2021. Nil).

32. ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY

The ultimate parent company is BRAC international B.V a company incorporated in The
Hague, TheNetherlands.

33. EVENTS AFTERTHE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no events after the reporting date that require disclosure in or adjustments to the financial
statementsas at the date of this report. (2022: NONE).
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